LANCASHIRE COMBINED FIRE AUTHORITY

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Monday, 10 February 2020, at 10.00 am in the Lightfoot Room 1, Service Headquarters, Fulwood.

<u>MINUTES</u>

PRESENT:

Councillors

M Parkinson OBE (Chairman) J Eaton F Jackson (Vice-Chair) A Kay (for D O'Toole) H Khan J Shedwick

Officers

D Russel, Deputy Chief Fire Officer (LFRS) B Norman, Assistant Chief Fire Officer (LFRS)

In attendance

WM K Leece, presenting Risk Based Inspection Programme presentation A/SM Tom Powell, presenting an overview of HMICFRS data sets.

17/19 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from County Councillors David O'Toole, Ian Brown and Tony Martin and Councillors Mohammed Khan and Simon Blackburn.

18/19 DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY AND NON-PECUNIARY INTERESTS

None received.

19/19 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

Prior to consideration of the minutes of the previous meeting the DCFO provided an update on the impact of Storm Ciara over the past 24 hours; North West Fire Control received 311 calls reporting incidents across Lancashire between 7am and 4pm, many related to flooding and dangerous structures. It was an extremely busy period with around 80 incidents at its height, either being dealt with or queued and a major incident was declared but was soon stood down. The picture was improving however there were further weather warnings relating to snow and ice for later in the week. Due to the impact of flooding at Service HQ, business continuity arrangements had been instigated and an Incident Management Team meeting would be held later that day.

Councillor Jackson asked that a thank you be passed onto members of LFRS on behalf of the residents in his area which LFRS supported at flooding incidents the day before.

Councillor Jackson asked whether there were certain instances where LFRS was unable to completely remove all the water from a property. In response to the question the DCFO explained that due to the size and location of the strainer used to remove the water, there may be instances where low-level residual water may be left however, he was confident that Firefighters would have done all they could to remove as much water as possible.

County Councillor Kay asked if LFRS go out prior to flooding events to give advice on how to protect properties from flooding. In response to the question raised the DCFO explained that this was more the role of the Environment Agency. Councillor Jackson added that local residents could set up local flood groups as some areas of Lancashire had already established.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the Minutes of the last meeting held on the 25 November 2019 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

20/19 ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN AND STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT OF RISK

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer presented a report on the Service's Annual Service Plan and Strategic Assessment of Risk for 2020/21.

This year's Annual Service Plan, as now considered by Members continued to provide LFRS with the platform to highlight the priority activities and projects the Service intended to deliver over the coming year; leading improvements and innovation in the sector with some of the best firefighting equipment and training facilities in the country and a highly skilled and motivated workforce. The year ahead would build on achievements by staying focused on continuous improvement to make the people of Lancashire safer, particularly the most vulnerable members of our communities. Many priorities were initiatives that would transform the way we work and bring lasting benefits.

This year's Annual Service Plan as now presented would be published alongside the Strategic Assessment of Risk. First published in 2016, this document had been refreshed for the 2020/21 year and captured the dynamic picture of changing risk in Lancashire.

Annual Service Plan

The Annual Service Plan was a core part of the planning framework which set out the activities intended for delivery during the next 12 months. It was built around the Service's four corporate priorities as detailed in the Integrated Risk Management Plan which were: -

- 1. Preventing fire and other emergencies from happening and Protecting people and property when fires happen;
- 2. Responding to fire and other emergencies quickly and competently;

- 3. Valuing our people so they can focus on making Lancashire safer;
- 4. Delivering value for money in how we use our resources.

The Annual Service Plan sat at the heart of the framework and informed activity that would be led across the Service as well as locally within district plans. Activities that were planned for delivery also informed staff performance appraisal process so that all staff understood the plans and were involved in helping to deliver key activities.

As in previous years, detailed under each corporate priority was a series of priority activities and projects with a brief description of each item to give further clarity and context. This ensured that all staff and the public were informed of the changes and activities the Service aimed to progress and how these items fitted within our priorities. This provided the opportunity for the Service to ensure that it continued to provide transparency and visibility of plans in a clear concise format. The governance arrangements for delivery of the Annual Service Plan items would continue to be monitored through the Service's Corporate Programme Board and Service Management Team.

As always, the aim was to continually improve and refine the planning process and this year's document aimed to add focus on achievable progress within the year, acknowledging that a significant proportion of items were continued from the 2019/20 Plan, reflecting the commitment to a number of long-term projects. Its style remained consistent with previous Annual Service Plans produced under the current IRMP period 2017 - 2022.

Strategic Assessment of Risk

Risk in Lancashire would always remain dynamic: it changed over time, differed by area and demographic, and needed different interventions to reduce the likelihood of the risk occurring or to lessen its consequences. These risks were identified in the Strategic Assessment of Risk which was refreshed annually and was also informed by the Lancashire Resilience Forum Community Risk Register. Through our risk management framework, we continually assessed changing risk and prioritised our response framework. A wider consultation had also taken place, involving District Councils, Lancashire County Council and Lancashire Constabulary, in order to gain a more complete collaborative picture of the perceived risk from the viewpoint of all organisations.

This year's document was again built on previous iterations as we seek to continually improve our processes and risk management processes. This year we had sought to identify more clearly how LFRS responded to a number of the strategic risks identified.

The Strategic Assessment of Risk reflected the knowledge and experience of a variety of specialist departments and was consolidated each summer to allow for departmental plans to be produced and for our Service's annual planning day. It was subsequently published as a stand-alone document to the LFRS website. This year, the document had been held back for publication alongside the Service's Annual Service Plan due to the relationship between the two documents. Our Annual Service Plan reflected our response to identified risk and our activities this year

clearly reflected a targeted approach to many items identified within the Strategic Assessment of Risk. It was intended to continue this dual approval and publication approach in future years.

Members welcomed the detail set out in this year's plan and questions with regards to the Strategic Assessment of risk followed:

County Councillor Kay asked who ensured the facilities for those with disabilities in high risk premises, particularly those above first floor lever were correct. If stay put advice was given, what would happen if individuals then needed to evacuate. In response to the question raised, the ACFO stated that any premises, regardless of number of floors, had to be managed by the responsible person. There was a multiple approach to managing the building through various acts such as the Fire Safety Order and Housing Act. A Joint Competent Authority would be the overall inspector and have responsibility in the future following the Grenfell recommendations. ACFO stated that if Councillor Kay had concerns regarding a specific building within her area she should contact the Service Delivery Manager. The DCFO added that there had been a national de-regulation of the system and the impact of austerity on many services had resulted in resource reductions in a number of areas.

County Councillor Shedwick commented that it was pleasing to see the number of prosecutions LFRS had brought as highlighted at CFA meetings. Councillor Shedwick also commented that the high-risk premises not performing as they should was covered in the corporate risk register and that the strategic assessment of risk had a great deal of detail which must be kept up-to-date and accurate.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the Planning Committee noted the Annual Service Plan and Strategic Assessment of Risk 2020/21 and endorsed both for publication.

21/19 BLUE LIGHT COLLABORATION UPDATE

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer presented the report.

It was noted that the Blue Light Collaboration programme was embedded into both Lancashire Constabulary and Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service (LFRS) corporate programme and a number of work streams remained open and are operating within the scope phase.

During the last quarter North West Ambulance Service had identified a single point of contact to operate in the project lead role and the officer for each of the three blue light services have attended a planning meeting.

Since the last Planning Committee meeting developments within business as usual activities have concluded collaborative benefits with regards to specialist protective clothing for LFRS National Incident Liaison Officers, a shared Business Continuity Plan for bulk fuel stocks and a memorandum of understanding has been drafted with regards to shared utilisation of the four drones held across LFRS (2) and Lancashire Constabulary (2).

There were a number of long-term projects that remained in scope phase and this

report provided an update with regards to the fire crime scene investigation accreditation, public order training and real time demand management.

Fire crime scene investigation accreditation

A number of meetings had been held between Lancashire Constabulary and LFRS in relation to the ongoing Fire Investigation International Standards Organisation (ISO) process; these meetings had formed the basis of an agreement including a Project Initiation Document and Terms of Reference. Joint project leads continued to work closely in order to identify the national developments of the new Fire Investigation standards in order to embed best practice for arson fire management within the county. Lancashire Police Quality Manager and an LFRS Incident Intelligence Officer attended a recent NFCC National Fire Investigation Accreditation update, some of the outcomes included:

The Forensic Science Regulator had agreed to put back the implementation date of the ISO until October 2021.

A small-scale forensic company had agreed to carry out a 'dry run' assessment with Fire and Rescue Services in order to see what the real issues were with the process. This took place in late 2019 and they would publish the results shortly which would inform next steps.

The emerging national position was identifying that many fire and rescue services were shaping draft agreements with their respective police force in order to discharge their fire investigation duties under a Section 22a collaborative arrangement. LFRS and Lancashire Constabulary were awaiting further clarity from the National Fire Chiefs Council and National Police Chiefs Council leads before determination could be made on next steps. Further clarity was anticipated at the next stakeholder meeting programmed for May 2020.

Real Time Demand Management

The collaborative ambition sought to establish whether there were opportunities to route specific aspects of 'Real Time Demand' from Lancashire Constabulary's Contact Management Centre to LFRS' North West Fire Control (NWFC). This would see LFRS as the primary responders to such incident types, wherein there had been a variable response to date, based upon the information passed by the caller into the 999 control room.

In practical terms this would determine the most appropriate resource to mobilise within the already established pre-determined attendance in line with a specific callset requirement. Automated routing of such incident types through to North West Fire Control, would accompany this as a longer-term ambition, which was currently on hold due to a phased reconfiguration of the Contact Management Centre at Lancashire Constabulary HQ.

Detailed analysis had been undertaken of calls received, to determine those that were the appropriate type for a primary response via LFRS. Work was progressing to develop and design a process to select and transfer appropriate incidents to LFRS via NWFC. Examples of which included Persons Trapped or injured; where a Fire and Rescue Service primary response, would provide assistance at an earlier point with higher levels of equipment and personnel. Nominated leads from each organisation were currently considering the next steps, in order that a trial may be considered in a defined geographic area of Lancashire.

Public Order Training Site

Lancashire Constabulary had commissioned a piece of work to review the delivery of their Public Order Training, this included aspects such as civil disorder, door entry and other operational expertise areas. The current training delivery utilised facilities at a number of sites and it was anticipated that there could be a more effective and efficient delivery model through site consolidation.

A number of possible sites were being evaluated and Lancashire Constabulary had requested that LFRS considered the potential for the Public Order Training to be delivered at LFRS training Centre, Euxton. In order to consider the potential for this collaboration there had been a number of work packages delivered, these included a scale and scope of the land requirements, evaluation of any training related benefits to LFRS, potential impacts to LFRS' future site use including the possible relocation of LFRS' headquarters to the Euxton site.

This evaluation work remained ongoing and recommendations from the project team would be considered by the collaboration board leads in the next quarter.

Members noted that the changes to ISO accreditation with regards to fire investigation may impact upon the methods of investigating, evidence capturing and subsequent reporting of arson events. Currently LFRS and Lancashire Constabulary worked collaboratively in a manner that led to some of the highest detection and conviction rates. Effective adjustment to the changing standards was required to ensure this effective delivery be maintained.

In addition, due to the change of legislation and expectations of the HMICFRS inspectorate arrangements, LFRS was required to provide greater clarity on the evidence captured as a part of ongoing and future collaboration opportunities.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the report be noted and endorsed.

22/19 HMICFRS UPDATE

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer presented the report.

In January 2020, HMICFRS released the 'State of Fire Report' which was the annual assessment of the effectiveness and efficiency of fire and rescue services in England, based on the 45 inspections carried out between June 2018 and August 2019.

The report provided a summary of the performance of the 45 fire and rescue services against the 3 inspection pillars of effectiveness, efficiency and people and provided a comparator for the high levels of performance delivered by Lancashire when considered against peers nationally.

The <u>report</u> highlighted that the sector had many strengths but that ongoing improvement was required. Whilst acknowledging that many of the negative

statements within the report exist nationally, it was pleasing that these were not representative of the picture that was reflected within LFRS.

The State of Fire report provided strategic recommendations on reforms needed, to ensure that modern fire and rescue services could be provided which were fit for the future. The report recommended:

1. By June 2020, the Home Office, in consultation with the fire and rescue sector, should review and with precision determine the roles of: (a) fire and rescue

services; and (b) those who work in them.

2. By June 2020, the Home Office, the Local Government Association, the National Fire Chiefs Council and trade unions should consider whether the current pay negotiation machinery requires fundamental reform. If so, this should include

the need for an independent pay review body and the future of the 'grey book'.

3. By September 2020, the Home Office should consider the case for legislating to give chief fire officers operational independence. In the meantime, it should issue clear guidance, possibly through an amendment to the Fire and Rescue National

Framework for England, on the demarcation between those responsible for governance and operational decision making by the chief fire officer.

4. By December 2020, the National Fire Chiefs Council, with the Local Government Association, should produce a code of ethics for fire and rescue services. The code should be adopted by every service in England and considered as part of each employee's progression and annual performance appraisal.

Second inspection confirmed

The dates for the second inspection of LFRS had been confirmed as week commencing 11th May 2020. For the second inspection our former Service Liaison Lead (SLL), Dave Dryburgh would hand over to his replacement, Jo Hayden (Programme and Planning Manager for Nottinghamshire FRS). It was anticipated that the Service would meet with the new SLL following their formal HMICFRS training in February. Meantime work was ongoing within Service to meet key dates within the timeline: –

- Data Return last week of January 2020.
- Preparation of LFRS Self-Assessment against the inspection framework, prior to Discovery Week.
- Document return (awaiting the request but previously this constituted 53 service level documents).
- Discovery week initial visit by a few members of the inspection team, confirmed as week commencing 20th April.
- Inspection week full inspection team into Service, week commencing 11th May.

During the previous inspection, the Chief Fire Officer's strategic brief was delivered prior to inspection week. This time, it would be delivered to the inspection team on

the first morning of inspection week. It was noted that there was a spring bi-annual data return expected in May which may coincide with the inspection dates.

Learning from other FRS and sharing our best practice

Whilst LFRS had areas of strength, it was recognised that further improvements could be derived from best practice of our peers. Following the release of the reports from the final tranche of inspections and the more recent State of Fire report, the Service had identified a number of opportunities to be explored with our peers. Accordingly, visits had been made to other FRS, examples being, Merseyside to look at their approach towards Prevention activity, phone conferences with Cambridge and Oxfordshire to look at various areas of strength and a further visit being planned to West Midlands to consider the work undertaken to achieve their 'outstanding' in response.

Conversely LFRS had hosted several FRS over the course of the year to share areas of our best practice, including Lincolnshire, Durham and Darlington and a number of FRS who attended a recent event to share an overview of our Risk Based Inspection Programme for fire protection.

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer introduced Station Manager Tom Powell who presented Members with information in relation to the type of data sets that had been requested by HMICFRS.

In response to a question from County Councillor Shedwick with regards to the scope and scale of the data collection, WM Powell detailed that the HMICFRS had a lead member of staff who worked with LFRS to ensure the data requested was aligned wherever possible to existing structures. Where this was not possible LFRS was adjusting automated systems in order to streamline the collation process.

RESOLVED: - That the report be noted.

23/19 RISK BASED INSPECTION PROGRAMME

The Assistant Chief Fire Officer introduced Watch Manager Kevin Leece who gave a presentation on an evaluation of the Risk Based Inspection Programme.

It was noted that the evaluation was a 3-month project between Lancaster University, LFRS and Surety Fire Solutions which provided a dissertation module for a Data Science MSc course. The aims were provided by LFRS, based around evaluating our Risk-Based Inspection Programme (RBIP). A project plan was created to meet those aims and the result of the project was a prioritised list of changes to the RBIP.

The current risk-based inspection programme involved using 11 of the attributes available for each property to attribute weightings to each property which when multiplied together give that property an overall risk score.

Throughout the process of evaluation several measurable aspects of risk were identified where the RBIP could be evaluated. Alternative models were built (which also included new attributes) to try and predict the different aspects of risk. These were machine learning models including linear

regression and tree-based models. Each model was evaluated for each aspect and the best performing models were compared to the RBIP. The findings from the alternative models were then used to create an alternative combined model which was compared directly to the RBIP. The findings from this comparison resulted in the recommendations given at the end of the project which were to: -

- 1. Increase the weighting of Primary Fires Attribute;
- 2. Increase the FSEC code weighting for Shops;
- 3. Decrease the FSEC code weighting for Public Buildings;
- 4. Change the FSEC group weighting rankings to match the alternative combined model;
- 5. Include the Emergency Response Time attribute;
- 6. Include the Audit Indicator attribute;
- 7. Consider dropping the Flood Warning Area, Heritage, External attributes;
- 8. Consider combining the FSEC score weight and FSEC weight;
- 9. Consider dropping the CFRMIS Risk Score attribute.

In summary the evaluation concluded that the RBIP proved to be an effective and flexible model. The project results allowed some well supported recommendations. However, since the RBIP was based on sound principles and was effective, it was too valuable to be changed dramatically.

It was noted that the recommendations had been implemented and that the RBIP was being promoted within the North West Region and also nationally via the National Fire Chief Councils risk working group. In addition, this type of evaluation was being progressed for other LFRS products as it had proven to be very cost effective.

Following the presentation, County Councillor Eaton asked what the timescales were for responsible persons to make changes if LFRS identified areas during audits. WM Leece explained that it would depend on how serious the failing was e.g. prohibition would be immediate or enforcement may be up to 28 days, a reinspection would take place and prosecutions could be taken if they failed to comply.

<u>RESOLVED</u>: - That the report be noted.

24/19 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Committee would be held on <u>Monday 13 July 2020</u> at 1000 hours in the main Conference Room at Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters, Fulwood.

A further meeting date was noted for 16 November 2020.

M NOLAN Clerk to CFA

LFRS HQ Fulwood